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Chief Counsel, may summarily seize an 
aircraft that is involved in a violation 
for which a civil penalty may be im-
posed on its owner or operator. 

(b) Each person seizing an aircraft 
under this section shall place it in the 
nearest available and adequate public 
storage facility in the judicial district 
in which it was seized. 

(c) The Regional Administrator or 
Chief Counsel, without delay, sends a 
written notice and a copy of this sec-
tion, to the registered owner of the 
seized aircraft, and to each other per-
sons shown by FAA records to have an 
interest in it, stating the— 

(1) Time, date, and place of seizure; 
(2) Name and address of the custodian 

of the aircraft; 
(3) Reasons for the seizure, including 

the violations believed, or judicially 
determined, to have been committed; 
and 

(4) Amount that may be tendered 
as— 

(i) A compromise of a civil penalty 
for the alleged violation; or 

(ii) Payment for a civil penalty im-
posed by a Federal court for a proven 
violation. 

(d) The Chief Counsel, or the Re-
gional Counsel or Assistant Chief 
Counsel for the region or area in which 
an aircraft is seized under this section, 
immediately sends a report to the 
United States District Attorney for the 
judicial district in which it was seized, 
requesting the District Attorney to in-
stitute proceedings to enforce a lien 
against the aircraft. 

(e) The Regional Administrator or 
Chief Counsel directs the release of a 
seized aircraft whenever— 

(1) The alleged violator pays a civil 
penalty or an amount agreed upon in 
compromise, and the costs of seizing, 
storing, and maintaining the aircraft; 

(2) The aircraft is seized under an 
order of a Federal Court in proceedings 
in rem to enforce a lien against the air-
craft, or the United States District At-
torney for the judicial district con-
cerned notifies the FAA that the Dis-
trict Attorney refuses to institute 
those proceedings; or 

(3) A bond in the amount and with 
the sureties prescribed by the Chief 
Counsel, the Regional Counsel, or the 
Assistant Chief Counsel is deposited, 

conditioned on payment of the penalty, 
or the compromise amount, and the 
costs of seizing, storing, and maintain-
ing the aircraft. 

[Doc. No. 18884, 44 FR 63723, Nov. 5, 1979, as 
amended by Amdt. 13–19, 54 FR 39290, Sept. 
25, 1989; Amdt. 13–29, 62 FR 46865, Sept. 4, 
1997] 

§ 13.18 Civil penalties: Administrative 
assessment against an individual 
acting as a pilot, flight engineer, 
mechanic, or repairman. 

(a) General. (1) This section applies to 
each action in which the FAA seeks to 
assess a civil penalty by administrative 
procedures against an individual acting 
as a pilot, flight engineer, mechanic, or 
repairman, under 49 U.S.C. 46301(d)(5), 
for a violation listed in 49 U.S.C. 
46301(d)(2). This section does not apply 
to a civil penalty assessed for violation 
of 49 U.S.C. chapter 51, or a rule, regu-
lation, or order issued thereunder. 

(2) District court jurisdiction. Notwith-
standing the provisions of paragraph 
(a)(1) of this section, the United States 
district courts have exclusive jurisdic-
tion of any civil penalty action involv-
ing an individual acting as a pilot, 
flight engineer, mechanic, or repair-
man for violations described in that 
paragraph, under 49 U.S.C. 46301(d)(4), 
if: 

(i) The amount in controversy is 
more than $50,000. 

(ii) The action involves an aircraft 
subject to a lien that has been seized 
by the Government; or 

(iii) Another action has been brought 
for an injunction based on the same 
violation. 

(b) Definitions. As used in this part, 
the following definitions apply: 

(1) Flight engineer means an indi-
vidual who holds a flight engineer cer-
tificate issued under part 63 of this 
chapter. 

(2) Individual acting as a pilot, flight 
engineer, mechanic, or repairman means 
an individual acting in such capacity, 
whether or not that individual holds 
the respective airman certificate 
issued by the FAA. 

(3) Mechanic means an individual who 
holds a mechanic certificate issued 
under part 65 of this chapter. 

VerDate Mar<15>2010 08:36 Apr 02, 2013 Jkt 229045 PO 00000 Frm 00052 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\229045.XXX 229045w
re

ie
r-

av
ile

s 
on

 D
S

K
5T

P
T

V
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 C
F

R



43 

Federal Aviation Administration, DOT § 13.18 

(4) Pilot means an individual who 
holds a pilot certificate issued under 
part 61 of this chapter. 

(5) Repairman means an individual 
who holds a repairman certificate 
issued under part 65 of this chapter. 

(c) Delegation of authority. (1) The au-
thority of the Administrator under 49 
U.S.C. 46301(d)(5), to initiate and assess 
civil penalties is delegated to the Chief 
Counsel; the Deputy Chief Counsel for 
Operations; the Assistant Chief Coun-
sel for Enforcement; Assistant Chief 
Counsel, Europe, Africa, and Middle 
East Area Office; the Regional Counsel; 
the Aeronautical Center Counsel; and 
the Technical Center Counsel. 

(2) The authority of the Adminis-
trator to refer cases to the Attorney 
General of the United States, or the 
delegate of the Attorney General, for 
collection of civil penalties is dele-
gated to the Chief Counsel; the Deputy 
Chief Counsel for Operations; the As-
sistant Chief Counsel for Enforcement; 
Assistant Chief Counsel, Europe, Afri-
ca, and Middle East Area Office; the 
Regional Counsel; the Aeronautical 
Center Counsel; and the Technical Cen-
ter Counsel. 

(3) The authority of the Adminis-
trator to compromise the amount of a 
civil penalty under 49 U.S.C. 46301(f) is 
delegated to the Chief Counsel; the 
Deputy Chief Counsel for Operations; 
the Assistant Chief Counsel for En-
forcement; Assistant Chief Counsel, 
Europe, Africa, and Middle East Area 
Office; the Regional Counsel; the Aero-
nautical Center Counsel; and the Tech-
nical Center Counsel. 

(d) Notice of proposed assessment. A 
civil penalty action is initiated by 
sending a notice of proposed assess-
ment to the individual charged with a 
violation specified in paragraph (a) of 
this section. The notice of proposed as-
sessment contains a statement of the 
charges and the amount of the pro-
posed civil penalty. The individual 
charged with a violation may do the 
following: 

(1) Submit the amount of the pro-
posed civil penalty or an agreed-on 
amount, in which case either an order 
of assessment or a compromise order 
will be issued in that amount. 

(2) Answer the charges in writing. 

(3) Submit a written request for an 
informal conference to discuss the 
matter with an agency attorney and 
submit relevant information or docu-
ments. 

(4) Request that an order be issued in 
accordance with the notice of proposed 
assessment so that the individual 
charged may appeal to the National 
Transportation Safety Board. 

(e) Failure to respond to notice of pro-
posed assessment. An order of assess-
ment may be issued if the individual 
charged with a violation fails to re-
spond to the notice of proposed assess-
ment within 15 days after receipt of 
that notice. 

(f) Order of assessment. An order of as-
sessment, which assesses a civil pen-
alty, may be issued for a violation de-
scribed in paragraph (a) of this section 
after notice and an opportunity to an-
swer any charges and be heard as to 
why such order should not be issued. 

(g) Appeal. Any individual who re-
ceives an order of assessment issued 
under this section may appeal the 
order to the National Transportation 
Safety Board. The appeal stays the ef-
fectiveness of the Administrator’s 
order. 

(h) Exhaustion of administrative rem-
edies. An individual substantially af-
fected by an order of the NTSB or the 
Administrator may petition for review 
only of a final decision and order of the 
National Transportation Safety Board 
to a court of appeals of the United 
States for the circuit in which the indi-
vidual charged resides or has his or her 
principal place of business or the 
United States Court of Appeals for the 
District of Columbia Circuit, under 49 
U.S.C. 46110 and 46301(d)(6). Neither an 
order of assessment that has not been 
appealed to the National Transpor-
tation Board, nor an order compro-
mising a civil penalty action, may be 
appealed under those sections. 

(i) Compromise. The FAA may com-
promise any civil penalty action initi-
ated under this section, in accordance 
with 49 U.S.C. 46301(f). 

(1) An agency attorney may com-
promise any civil penalty action where 
an individual charged with a violation 
agrees to pay a civil penalty and the 
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FAA agrees to make no finding of vio-
lation. Under such agreement, a com-
promise order is issued following the 
payment of the agreed-on amount or 
the signing of a promissory note. The 
compromise order states the following: 

(i) The individual has paid a civil 
penalty or has signed a promissory 
note providing for installment pay-
ments; 

(ii) The FAA makes no finding of vio-
lation; and 

(iii) The compromise order will not 
be used as evidence of a prior violation 
in any subsequent civil penalty pro-
ceeding or certificate action pro-
ceeding. 

(2) An agency attorney may com-
promise the amount of any civil pen-
alty proposed or assessed in an order. 

(j) Payment. (1) An individual must 
pay a civil penalty by: 

(i) Sending a certified check or 
money order, payable to the Federal 
Aviation Administration, to the FAA 
office identified in the order of assess-
ment, or 

(ii) Making an electronic funds trans-
fer according to the directions speci-
fied in the order of assessment. 

(2) The civil penalty must be paid 
within 30 days after service of the order 
of assessment, unless an appeal is filed 
with the National Transportation Safe-
ty Board. The civil penalty must be 
paid within 30 days after a final order 
of the Board or the Court of Appeals af-
firms the order of assessment in whole 
or in part. 

(k) Collection of civil penalties. If an 
individual does not pay a civil penalty 
imposed by an order of assessment or 
other final order, the Administrator 
may take action provided under the 
law to collect the penalty. 

[Amdt. 13–32; 69 FR 59497, Oct. 4, 2004] 

§ 13.19 Certificate action. 
(a) Under section 609 of the Federal 

Aviation Act of 1958 (49 U.S.C. 1429), the 
Administrator may reinspect any civil 
aircraft, aircraft engine, propeller, ap-
pliance, air navigation facility, or air 
agency, and may re-examine any civil 
airman. Under section 501(e) of the FA 
Act, any Certificate of Aircraft Reg-
istration may be suspended or revoked 
by the Administrator for any cause 

that renders the aircraft ineligible for 
registration. 

(b) If, as a result of such a reinspec-
tion re-examination, or other inves-
tigation made by the Administrator 
under section 609 of the FA Act, the 
Administrator determines that the 
public interest and safety in air com-
merce requires it, the Administrator 
may issue an order amending, sus-
pending, or revoking, all or part of any 
type certificate, production certificate, 
airworthiness certificate, airman cer-
tificate, air carrier operating certifi-
cate, air navigation facility certificate, 
or air agency certificate. This author-
ity may be exercised for remedial pur-
poses in cases involving the Hazardous 
Materials Transportation Act (49 
U.S.C. 1801 et seq.) or regulations 
issued under that Act. This authority 
is also exercised by the Chief Counsel, 
the Assistant Chief Counsel, Enforce-
ment, the Assistant Chief Counsel, 
Regulations, the Assistant Chief Coun-
sel, Europe, Africa, and Middle East 
Area Office, each Regional Counsel, 
and the Aeronautical Center Counsel. 
If the Administrator finds that any air-
craft registered under Part 47 of this 
chapter is ineligible for registration, 
the Administrator issues an order sus-
pending or revoking that certificate. 
This authority as to aircraft found in-
eligible for registration is also exer-
cised by each Regional Counsel, the 
Aeronautical Center Counsel, and the 
Assistant Chief Counsel, Europe, Afri-
ca, and Middle East Area Office. 

(c) Before issuing an order under 
paragraph (b) of this section, the Chief 
Counsel, the Assistant Chief Counsel, 
Enforcement, the Assistant Chief 
Counsel, Regulations, the Assistant 
Chief Counsel, Europe, Africa, and Mid-
dle East Area Office, each Regional 
Counsel, or the Aeronautical Center 
Counsel advises the certificate holder 
of the charges or other reasons upon 
which the Administrator bases the pro-
posed action and, except in an emer-
gency, allows the holder to answer any 
charges and to be heard as to why the 
certificate should not be amended, sus-
pended, or revoked. The holder may, by 
checking the appropriate box on the 
form that is sent to the holder with the 
notice of proposed certificate action, 
elect to— 
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